IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: SC05-1295 L.T. CASE NO: 2D 03-134

UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

FIRST HOME BUILDERS OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER, UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

ON DISCRETIONARY CONFLICT REVIEW OF A DECISION FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

HINSHAW & CULBERTSON LLP Ronald L. Kammer Fla. Bar No. 360589 Valerie M. Jackson Florida Bar No. 170135 Sina Bahadoran Florida Bar No. 523364 9155 S. Dadeland Blvd., Suite 1600 Miami, FL 33156

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 19, 2002, the Circuit Court of Lee County entered Final Declaratory Judgment in favor of United States Fire Insurance Company ("U.S. Fire") against J.S.U.B., Inc., and LOGUE Enterprises, Inc., as partners of First Home Builders of Florida, a joint venture (collectively, "First Home"). First Home appealed and the Second District Court of Appeal reversed. *J.S.U.B. v. United States Fire Ins.*, 906 So. 2d 303 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (referred to as "*JSUB*"). U.S. Fire timely filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and this Court accepted jurisdiction on April 5, 2006.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

First Home, a general contractor, sought coverage under two consecutive commercial general liability ("CGL") insurance policies issued by U.S. Fire. First Home sought coverage for the cost of repairing or replacing its defective work, asserting that because the defective work was occasioned by the negligence of its subcontractors, U. S. Fire must satisfy First Home's contractual obligations to its customers. (R. 4, ¶15). When U.S. Fire disclaimed coverage, First Home sued U.S. Fire for declaratory relief. (R. 1-59).

1. <u>Stipulated Facts</u>

The case went to a non-jury trial on the following stipulated facts recited by

the trial court:

- 1. That [FIRST HOME] is a home builder who was contracted by prospective homeowners to build several homes in the Lehigh Acres area.
- 2. That the homes built by FIRST HOME in the Lehigh Acres area were damaged by FIRST HOME'S faulty workmanship stemming from its subcontractors' use of poor soil, improper soil compaction and testing.
- 3. That the damage to the homes appeared after the completion of the subject homes and their delivery to the respective homeowners.
- 4. That Defendant/Counterplaintiff, U.S. FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY refused to provide coverage to FIRST HOME for the repair costs associated with the faulty workmanship under two general liability policies issued to FIRST HOME, policy numbers 503178958 (04/24/99 04/24/00) [the "1999 Policy"] and 5430828249 (04/24/00 04/24/01) [the "2000 Policy"].
- 5. That FIRST HOME filed an action for declaratory relief against U.S. FIRE on June 7, 2001, to determine whether coverage existed.
- 6. That U.S. FIRE agreed to provide coverage for consequential damages such as damage to homeowners' wall paper and other damages that are not part of the cost of repairing FIRST HOME's contracted product as promised in its building contracts for the construction of the subject homes.

(R. 469).

2. Policy Provisions

Both the 1999 Policy and the 2000 Policy (collectively, "Policies") contain

the following provisions:

SECTION I – COVERAGES

COVERAGE A BODILY INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE LIABILITY

- **1.** Insuring Agreement¹
 - **a.** We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies. . . . But:
 - (1) The amount we will pay for damages is limited as described in Section III – Limits Of Insurance
 - **b.** This insurance applies to "bodily injury" and "property damage" only if:
 - (1) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" is caused by an "occurrence" that takes in the "coverage territory"; and
 - (2) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" occurs during the policy period.

2. Exclusions

This insurance does not apply to:

¹ The Insuring Agreement in the 2000 policy was amended by an endorsement entitled "AMENDMENT TO INSURING AGREEMENT – KNOWN INJURY OR DAMAGE", however, the operative provision remained the same in both Policies.

a. Expected or Intended Injury

"Bodily injury" or "property damage" expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured. This exclusion does not apply to "bodily injury" resulting from the use of reasonable force to protect persons or property.

j. Damage To Property

"Property damage" to:

- (5) That particular part of real property on which you or any contractors or subcontractors working directly on your behalf are performing operations, if the "property damage" arises out of those operations; or
- (6) That particular part of any property that must be restored, repaired or replaced because "your work" was incorrectly performed on it.

Paragraph (6) of this exclusion does not apply to "property damage" included in the "products-completed operations hazard".

I. Damage To Your Work

"Property damage" to "your work" arising out of it or any part of it and included in the "products-completed operations hazard".

This exclusion does not apply if the damaged work or the work out of which the damage arises was performed on your behalf by a subcontractor.

SECTION V – DEFINITIONS

13. "Occurrence" means an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions.

- 16. "Products-completed operations hazard"
 - (a) Includes all "bodily injury" and "property damage" occurring away from premises you own or rent and arising out of "your product" or "your work" except:
 - (1) Products that are still in your physical possession; or
 - (2) Work that has not yet been completed or abandoned. However, "your work" will be deemed completed at the earliest of the following times:
 - (a) When all the work called for in your contract has been completed.
 - (b) When all of the work to be done at the job site has been completed if your contract calls for work at more than one job site.
 - (c) When that part of the work done at a job site has been put to its intended use by any person or organization other than another contractor or subcontractor working on the same project.

Work that may need service, maintenance, correction, repair or replacement, but which is otherwise complete, will be treated as completed.

17. "Property damage" means:

a. Physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss of use of that property. All such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at the time of the physical injury that caused it; or

b. Loss of use of tangible property that is not physically injured. All such loss of use shall be deemed to occur at the time of the occurrence that caused it.

- 21. "Your work" means:
 - a. Work or operations performed by you or on your behalf; and
 - b. Materials, parts or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations.

"Your work" includes:

- a. Warranties or representations made at any time with respect to the fitness, quality, durability, performance or use of "your work"; and
- b. The providing of or failure to provide warnings or instructions.

(R. 275-423).

3. Trial Court Final Judgment

After reviewing the insurance policies and applicable Florida law, the trial

court held that the Policies:

provide no coverage for faulty workmanship and that the damages alleged by FIRST HOME and caused by FIRST HOME's subcontractors' use of poor soil, improper soil compaction and testing are faulty workmanship for which no coverage exists under the subject policies.

(R. 463). The trial court entered final judgment in favor of U.S. Fire. (R. 459-72).

First Home appealed. (R. 464-65).

4. Second District Opinion

The Second District reversed and remanded. It articulated two reasons for distinguishing nearly forty years of Florida law: first, the Second District determined that this Court had "broadened CGL coverage" in *State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. CTC Development Corp.*, 720 So. 1072 (Fla. 1998), by "expanding the interpretation of what constitutes an 'accident' when that term is not defined in an occurrence-based policy"; and second, because the policy revisions in 1986 added products-completed operations hazard coverage. *JSUB*, 906 So. 2d at 307.

This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For nearly four decades, Florida law has consistently held that there is no coverage under a CGL insurance policy for the cost of repairing and replacing a defective product or contractor's faulty workmanship. *Escambia Chem. Corp. v. U.S. Fid. and Guar. Co.*, 212 So. 2d 884 (Fla. 1st DCA 1968). Simply put, Florida courts have consistently held that it is not a CGL insurer's responsibility to satisfy a builder's contractual responsibility. Numerous reasons have been pronounced for this established rule of law. This Court's decision in *LaMarche v. Shelby Mutual Insurance Co.*, 390 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1980) ("*LaMarche*") and those decisions from the First, Second², Third, Fourth, and Fifth District Courts of

² Prior to JSUB, the Second District followed this rule in Auto-Owners Ins.

Appeal which have uniformly followed it, conclude that coverage does not lie because faulty workmanship cannot constitute an "occurrence," is not "property damage," or because insurance coverage for defective work, alone, is entirely repugnant to Florida public policy. Consistent among these decisions, however, is the core concept that unlike tort damages, a CGL policy simply is not intended to cover contractual liability faced by a contractor who delivers defective work to its customers in breach of its contractual obligations.

JSUB clouds this reasoned body of law based almost entirely on an erroneous reading of this Court's decision in *State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. CTC Development Corp.*, 720 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1980) ("*CTC*"). *CTC* did not expand the insuring agreement of the 1986 CGL policy as JSUB suggests. Unlike the situation present here, that case involved damage to a third party, and not the repair and replacement of a contractor's own work. Thus, not only is *CTC* factually irrelevant to the issue before this Court, properly read, it in fact supports the conclusion that there is no coverage for First Home's claims.

This Court should uphold long-standing Florida law and reaffirm the principle that a CGL policy provides coverage for tort liability only when defective work causes property damage, and not for contractual liability arising from the delivery of defective work. This Court should rule that the claims by First Home

Co. v. Marvin Dev. Corp., 805 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

do not satisfy the insuring agreement under the U.S. Fire Policies, as there was no "occurrence" and no "property damage." Further, this Court should rule that coverage here would be contrary to Florida public policy and would impermissibly convert a CGL insurer into a surety that guarantees the performance of quality work. Accordingly, this Court should reverse *JSUB* and reinstate the judgment of the trial court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The interpretation of an insurance contract is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*. *Jones v. Utica Mut. Ins. Co.*, 463 So. 1153, 1157 (Fla. 1985).

ARGUMENT

I. JSUB WRONGLY CONCLUDED THAT CTC AND 1986 POLICY REVISIONS EXPANDED COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE INSURING AGREEMENT

When the Second District in *JSUB* found that a standard CGL policy provides coverage for the cost to replace a general contractor's faulty workmanship, it refused to follow the decisions of this Court, four other district courts of appeal and a prior panel of the Second District. The *JSUB* court's decision was based on two patently erroneous premises. First, the court relied on this Court's decision in *CTC*, which it claimed "broadened CGL coverage by expanding the interpretation of what constitutes an 'accident' when the term is not defined in an occurrence-based policy." Second, the court distinguished *LaMarche* because the standard CGL forms used by the insurance industry were revised to include products-completed operations hazard coverage.

For the reasons discussed below, neither premise is correct. A standard CGL policy does not indemnify contractors for damage to their own work caused by faulty workmanship.

A. JSUB Erroneously Concluded that CTC Expanded the Insuring Agreement to Encompass the Repair and Replacement of Faulty Workmanship

JSUB relied extensively on this Court's decision in *CTC* in holding that a construction defect claim is an occurrence where there is only damage to the work itself. The facts and legal issues in *CTC*, however, differ significantly from those here.

1. Unlike Here, *CTC* Involved Third-Party Damage

In *CTC*, a builder violated restrictive covenants by constructing a residence beyond the applicable setback lines under the mistaken impression that the homeowner's association had approved his request for a variance. *State Farm Fire* & *Casualty C. v. CTC Development Corp.*, 720 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1998). The neighboring property owners filed suit. *Id.* at 1073. When the insurer denied coverage, the builder sued the insurer. When the trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the insurer, the builder appealed. *Id.* at 1074.

The CGL policy in *CTC* applied only to "bodily injury or property damage caused by an occurrence" The policy defined an "occurrence" as "an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions which result in bodily injury or property damage. *Id.* at 1073.

The CTC court held that where the term "accident" is not defined, it encompasses not only "accidental events but also injuries or damage neither expected nor intended from the standpoint of the insured." Id. at 1076.³ JSUB failed to consider that the builder's conduct in CTC was deemed an "accident" because the defective construction resulted in unintentional and unexpected harm to the innocent neighbors who were not parties to the construction contract. Properly read, the holding in CTC is consistent with LaMarche because the damages in *CTC* were sustained by a *third party* beyond the contractual obligations owed by the insured to the homeowners. Under LaMarche and its progeny, this is exactly the type of damage that a CGL policy is intended to cover. See Auto-Owners v. Travelers, 227 F. Supp. 2d 1248, 1261 n.19 (M.D. Fla. 2002) ("In CTC, the damages sought were necessarily "property damage" resulting from defective construction rather than the costs to repair or replace the defective

³ "Expect" is a broad term. One source defines "expect" as: "... 2. To consider likely or certain: ... 3. To consider reasonable or due" THE AMERICAN HERITAGE DICTIONARY, 476 (2d ed. 1982).

construction because the underlying plaintiffs were third parties--adjoining property owners--rather than the party for whom the contractor had built the defective or faulty construction."); *Comm. Union Ins. Co. v. R.H. Barto Co.*, 440 So.2d 383 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) ("[A] comprehensive general liability policy is intended to protect an insured from injury incurred by a third party resulting from the insured's faulty workmanship and material. It is not intended to protect the insured from liability for replacement or repair of the defective work or material itself.")⁴. Thus, *CTC* left intact the principles set out by this Court in *LaMarche*.

In stark contrast to *CTC*, this case involves a suit by a builder seeking coverage for delivering faulty work to its customers. First Home entered into contracts to build homes. First Home failed to properly construct the homes in breach of its contractual obligations to the respective homes' owners. The improper construction caused damage to the structures themselves, as opposed to any damage to a third party or damage to property outside the contract. As in this case, when defective construction results only in damage to the home itself

⁴ As early as 1968, long before *LaMarche*, Florida law provided no coverage for an insured's failure to deliver a product as bargained for, finding that such claims do not constitute an occurrence within a liability policy. "There is no contention by the customer that the product furnished by [the insured] was so defective as to injure either the customer's person or property, or that his loss resulted from an accident of any kind or nature." *Escambia Chem. Corp.*, 212 So. 2d at 886, 87.

that the insured contracted to deliver, there is no accident and hence no "occurrence" as those are precisely the damages that are "expected."

In *LaMarche*, this Court adopted the New Jersey Supreme Court decision of *Weedo v. Stone-E-Brick, Inc.*, 81 N.J. 233, 405 A. 2d 788 (1979), which explained that claims for defective work are not covered because they are ordinary costs of doing business: "The insured-contractor can take pains to control the quality of the goods and services supplied. At the same time he undertakes the risk that he may fail in this endeavor and thereby incur contractual liability whether express or implied. The consequence of not performing well is part of every business venture; the replacement or repair of faulty goods and work is a business expense, to be borne by the insured-contractor in order to satisfy customers." *Id.* at 791–92.

The court in *Harbor Court Associates v. Kiewit Const. Co.*, 6 F. Supp. 2d 449 (D. Md. 1998),⁵ explained this same concept in the specific context of an insured's "expectation" of liability for defective work:

In the context of a construction project, the word 'expected' refers to damages for which an insured would be liable in any event, irrespective of fault, because of its contractual obligations to construct its product. . . . "[C]ontractors, when they agree to construct a building, expect that they will

⁵ In *French v. Assurance Co. of Am.*, 2006 WL 1099471 (4th Cir. 2006), the court, applying Maryland law, held that certain insurers, including U.S. Fire, breached the duty to indemnify to the extent that claims involved the costs to repair otherwise non-defective components of the home. The court, however, also ruled that there was no coverage to repair and replace the insured's own defective work.

have to erect the building in a proper manner. They further expect that if they do not do so, they will have to repair any defects in their work so as to 'deliver' the product they promised to provide.

Id. at 452. Here, the cost incurred by First Home in order to satisfy its contractual obligations to its customers was a routine, ordinary and expected cost of doing business and not an accident or occurrence under the Policies.

2. Rather Than "Expand" Coverage, *CTC* Merely Incorporated the Pre-1986 Definition of "Occurrence" Into All 1986 CGL Policies

JSUB held that *LaMarche* did not apply to the facts of this case because the Policies provide broader coverage. To reach that conclusion, *JSUB* misapplied *CTC*, erroneously disregarded *LaMarche*, and violated the fundamental principle that an exclusion limits as opposed to creates coverage.

In order to define the term "accident," the *CTC* court considered the "occurrence" definition in pre-1986 CGL policies like the one in *LaMarche*. In those policies, "occurrence" was defined as "an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to conditions, which result[s] in bodily injury or property damage neither expected nor intended from the standpoint of the insured." *Id.* at 1075-76; *see also Dimmitt Chevrolet Inc. v. Southeastern Fidelity Ins. Corp.*, 636 So. 2d 700, 702-03 (Fla. 1993). Under that definition, the Court noted that there would be coverage "not only for an accidental event but also for unexpected injury or damage resulting from the insured's intentional acts." *CTC*, 720 So. 2d at 1075. The court adopted that definition because it found it "comports with the language

used in standard comprehensive liability policies and with the definition of the term accidental set forth in *Dimmitt* as unexpected or unintended."⁶ 636 So. 2d at 704.

Thus, contrary to the erroneous conclusion drawn by *JSUB*, *CTC* did not broaden coverage in the post-1986 policies. *CTC* merely incorporated into the definition of occurrence, the meaning of "accident" that was expressly included in the policy at issue in *LaMarche*.⁷ Accordingly, the definition of occurrence adopted by this Court in *CTC* is consistent with *LaMarche*, and *JSUB* erred when it found *LaMarche⁸* inapplicable and no longer controlling.

3. *CTC* Did Not Alter the Principle that an Exclusion Limits Coverage and Does Not Create Coverage

As discussed above, the 1986 revisions affect the coverage analysis only if the damages fall initially within the insuring agreement, which under Florida law

⁶ In *Dimmitt*, the court interpreted CGL policies that provided coverage to Dimmitt from 1972-1980. The policy defined an "occurrence" as "an accident including continuous or repeated exposure to conditions, which result in bodily injury or property damage neither expected nor intended from the standpoint of the insured."

⁷ The "expected or intended" concept was not only incorporated into the 1986 policy's "occurrence" requirement, but it is further expressed in Exclusion (a) which precludes coverage for "property damage expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured."

⁸ Prior to *JSUB*, all of the cases following *LaMarche*, concluded that the insuring agreement in a commercial general liability policy does not provide coverage for faulty workmanship. Accordingly, it is irrelevant that some of these cases interpret post 1986 policies and some of them interpreted pre-1986 policies.

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