#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, a corporation,

Petitioner,

VS.

Case No.: SC05-1295

2d DCA Case No.: 2D-03-0134 Lee Co. Case No.: 01-5533CA

J.S.U.B., INC. as partner of FIRST HOME BUILDERS OF FLORIDA, a joint venture and LOGUE ENTERPRISES, INC., as partner of FIRST HOME BUILDERS OF FLORIDA, a joint venture,

Respondents.		
	_//	

RESPONDENTS', J.S.U.B., INC. as partner of FIRST HOME BUILDERS OF FLORIDA, a joint venture and LOGUE ENTERPRISES, INC., as partner of FIRST HOME BUILDERS OF FLORIDA, a joint venture, AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Unintended and unexpected physical damage to a general contractor's work, which occurs after completed operations and which work was performed by the

general contractor's subcontractor, constitutes a covered loss under the post-1986 standard form CGL sold to BUILDER in this case. Unintended and unexpected physical damage to the general contractor's work product constitutes a covered "occurrence," "accident," and "property damage" as those terms are used in the CGL. Prior to 1986, it was common for CGLs to exclude coverage for all damage to the insured's work. However, CGLs have substantially changed. It is now common for such policies to include PCOH coverage. 9 Lee R. Russ & Thomas F. Segalla eds., Couch on Insurance § 129:14 (3d ed. 2004). In 1986, carriers added an exception to the standard "business risk" exclusion for "your work" which allows coverage for types of incidents which are the subject of this lawsuit. Under the 1986 amendments to the CGL, an exception to otherwise excluded losses exists "if the damaged work, or work out of which the damage arises, was performed on your behalf by a Subcontractor." Thus, coverage is available to BUILDER in the instant matter.

Under this Court's rules of insurance policy construction, the definitions of "occurrence" and "property damage" clearly support the conclusion that allegations of defective construction against a general contractor that result in unintended physical damage to his work easily fall within the grant of coverage of the CGL. The presence of carefully crafted building industry specific exclusions and the exceptions to those exclusions, as well as endorsements eliminating the

exceptions to the exclusions, establish that the CGL was, in fact, intended to insure claims which fall within the undisputed fact pattern of the instant action. Thus, coverage is available to BUILDER in this case and other contractors with CGLs where the following insurance policy conditions are met:

- 1. The insured purchased a CGL which includes PCOH coverage;
- 2. There is an "occurrence" which constitutes an accident under the policy of insurance;
- 3. There is physical damage to property;
- 4. The insured is "legally obligated" to pay damages because of (2) and (3);
- 5. The "property damage" and "occurrence" were the result of the errors or omissions of a subcontractor;
- 6. The errors or omissions of a subcontractor gave rise to damage which first manifested after operations were complete.

INSURER and its AMICI urge this Court to rewrite the CGL by having the judiciary create an *ex post facto* "endorsement" which disallows coverage in contravention of the policy language. INSURER'S arguments focus on INSURER'S presumed purpose of the CGL, ignoring the actual language used to define coverage and disregarding this Court's broad pronouncements that unintentional construction errors constitute an "occurrence" under Florida law. The arguments on which INSURER and its AMICI focus exclusively are the insuring agreement (i.e. the "occurrence," "property damage," and "legally obligated" requirements) and extraneous legal doctrines (i.e. the "business risk," "economic loss," "fortuity," "fundamental intent" and "public policy"),

supplanting the actual CGL language which includes specific exclusions designed to delineate the scope of the coverage afforded to an insured for construction related damages. Effectively, INSURER attempts to import these extra-contractual doctrines and other limitations on coverage found in the exclusions into the definitions of "occurrence," "property damage," and "legally obligated." INSURER'S construction of the CGL improperly renders construction industry oriented exclusions b., j., k., l., and m. surplusage, giving them the status of mere ink blots in the policy of insurance. INSURER'S theory of the case requests, and in fact requires, that this Court ignore the very language of the CGL sold by INSURER and paid for by BUILDER. There is simply no view of contract law or public policy of the State of Florida which warrants saving INSURER from the very adhesion contract it carefully drafted, marketed and sold, and for which INSURER received premiums.

The District Court correctly determined that the subject policies, when read in their entirety, afforded coverage. The decision should be affirmed.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

BUILDER agrees that interpretation of the subject CGLs is a question of law subject to de novo review. <u>Jones v. Utica Mut. Ins. Co.</u>, 463 So. 2d 1153, 1157 (Fla. 1985).

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. Many of INSURER'S issues were not preserved for review.

Several of the issues raised by INSURER in its Brief were never raised at the Trial Court or District Court of Appeals level and are therefore waived. The following issues were not preserved:

- 1. That the CGL does not cover breaches of contract.
- 2. Public policy prohibits coverage for breaches of contract under the CGL.
- 3. The CGL does not cover "economic losses."
- 4. The losses in dispute do not constitute "property damage."

These claims are demonstrably incorrect, as will be shown *infra*, were waived, and cannot be considered by this Court. <u>Dober, et al. v. Worrell,</u> 401 So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 1981) and <u>Sunset Harbour Condo</u>. Ass'n v. Robbins, 914 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 2005).

# II. The District Court Opinion correctly concluded coverage exists for the subject loss, applying this Court's precedents and rules of insurance policy construction.

### A. <u>Interpretation of insurance policies.</u>

Construction of an insurance policy is controlled by contract principles and not tort law principles. <u>Travelers Indem. Co. v. PCR Inc.</u>, 889 So. 2d 779, 793 n.15 (Fla. 2004). The Court must give effect to the plain language of an insurance policy. <u>Swire Pac. Holdings v. Zurich Ins. Co.</u>, 845 So.2d 161, 165 (Fla. 2003). A court cannot and should not, under the guise of construction, rewrite the insurance contract. <u>General Accident Fire and Life Assurance Corporation v. Liberty Mutual</u>

Insurance Company, 260 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1972). Florida law requires that a policy of insurance be read as a whole, endeavoring to give every provision its full meaning and operative effect. <u>Id.</u> and § 627.419 of Florida Statutes (2006). Each provision of an insuring contract should be given meaning and effect, and apparent inconsistencies reconciled, if possible. <u>Excelsior Insurance Company v. Pomona Park Bar & Package Store</u>, 369 So. 2d 938, 941 (Fla. 1979).

If the relevant policy language is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, one providing coverage and the other limiting coverage, the policy is ambiguous and must be construed against the carrier. Auto-Owners Insurance Company v. Anderson, 756 So. 2d 29, 34 (Fla. 2000). "Proof of the pudding" of ambiguity is appropriately found where the reasoned judgment of numerous courts come to opposite or differing conclusions from a study of essentially the same policy language. Security Insurance Company of Hartford v. Investors Diversified Limited, 407 So. 2d 314, 316 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1981). While the intent of the parties is not dispositive in policyholder disputes, the reason which motivated the parties to make the contract is a relevant consideration. Travelers, 889 So. 2d at 788 n.9.

# B. <u>LaMarche's adoption of the reasoning of Weedo establishes that unintended construction defects constitute an "occurrence" under the CGL.</u>

For INSURER to prevail, this Court must overrule <u>LaMarche</u> and its' adoption of <u>Weedo</u>. BUILDER readily admits that until the decision below in

J.S.U.B. v. United States Fire Ins. Co., 906 So. 2d 303, 307-09 (Fla. 2<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2005), *review granted*, (Fla. 2006), Florida courts have historically disallowed a contractor from obtaining CGL coverage for property damage to its own work. The cases disallowing coverage purport to follow this Court's decision in LaMarche v. The Shelby Mutual Insurance Company, 390 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1980). As it will be seen, LaMarche, and the decision which served as its basis, Weedo v. Stone-E-Brick, Inc., 405 A.2d 788 (N.J. 1979), have been misapprehended and misapplied by most of the courts which have interpreted them. LaMarche merely held, under the then existing CGL, that coverage for faulty workmanship was taken away via exclusion. In the post-1986 CGL form at issue here, the exclusions have changed and do not eliminate coverage under the undisputed facts in this case.

A review of the Florida cases which disallow coverage for "faulty workmanship" demonstrate that our courts have not been analytically consistent in describing why construction defect claims were not covered. Some cases have held that "business risks" fall within an exclusion. See <u>LaMarche</u>, 390 So. 2d 325, citing <u>Weedo</u>, 405 A.2d 788, and <u>Hardaway Co. ex rel. Wright Contr. Co. v. United States Fire Ins. Co.</u>, 724 So. 2d 588 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1998). Others have suggested that "business risks" fall outside the grant of coverage. <u>Home Owners Warranty Corp. v. Hanover Ins. Co.</u>, 683 So. 2d 527, 528-9 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1996). Other cases have over-generalized their analyses by merely referring to these

claims as "business risk," without analyzing the actual policy language. Lassiter Constr. Co. v. American States Ins. Co., 699 So. 2d 768, 769-70 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). At least three (3) courts have held that the CGL does not cover damage to an insured's work as a matter of public policy. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. of Am. v. Deluxe Sys., 711 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); Sekura v. Granada Ins. Co., 896 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2005); and Centex Homes Corp. v. Prestressed Systems, Inc., 444 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1984). The cases denying coverage have even extended the rule to the errors of subcontactors. Tucker Constr. Co. v. Mich. Mut. Ins. Co., 423 So. 2d 525 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). The Middle District, applying Florida law, recognized that "property damage" from faulty workmanship constitutes an "occurrence" and "accident" under a CGL, but still held that coverage was unavailable for such a loss without further analysis of the exclusions or policy language, instead merely citing to LaMarche. See Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co., 227 F. Supp. 2d 1248 (M.D. Fla. The U.S. 11<sup>th</sup> Circuit Court of Appeals recently noted, "viewing the 2002). language of the Policies in isolation, the ... conclusion that coverage exists arguably would seem proper." Pozzi Window Co. v. Auto-Owners, Inc., 446 F.3d 1178 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2006). These cases all claim LaMarche as their polestar, and as such, the launch point for any treatment of this issue is LaMarche.

This Court's decision in <u>LaMarche</u> barely fills two (2) pages of the Southern Second Reporter, and the facts receive little treatment. The facts are discussed in slightly more detail in the Second District Court of Appeal's decision which led to Supreme Court review. <u>See Shelby Mut. Ins. Co. v. LaMarche</u>, 371 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1979). Neither opinion addressed the nature of the accident or incident giving rise to the lawsuit by the homeowner against the home builder. Obviously, the <u>LaMarche</u> court was dealing with a predecessor form. <u>LaMarche</u> undeniably holds, as to the prior policy form:

... that the purpose of **this** comprehensive liability insurance coverage is to provide protection for personal injury or for property damage caused by the completed product, but not for the replacement and repair of that product.

<u>LaMarche</u>, 390 So. 2d at 326 [emphasis added]. This holding, or portions of it, have repeatedly been taken, in isolation, divorced from the policy terms, and without analysis, by numerous Florida courts resulting in the confusion which no doubt led this Court to accept jurisdiction. The true holding of <u>LaMarche</u> was:

We find this interpretation was not the intent of the contractor and the insurance company when they entered into the subject contract of insurance, and the language of the policy clearly **excludes** this type of coverage.

<u>Id.</u> [emphasis added]. Based upon the above language, <u>LaMarche</u> clearly substantiates BUILDER'S position that faulty workmanship constituted a covered occurrence. <u>LaMarche</u> merely held that under the then-existing CGL, coverage for

such property damage was taken away **via exclusion**. In the post-1986 CGL at issue here, the exclusions have changed and do not eliminate coverage. This view is consistent with the reason for this Court having accepted jurisdiction over the <u>LaMarche</u> decision. In deciding <u>LaMarche</u>, this Court rejected the determination of the court in <u>Fontainebleau Hotel Corp. v. United Filigree Corp.</u>, 298 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1974). In <u>Fontainebleau</u>, the court held that the business risk exclusions in the 1973 CGL were ambiguous. This contrasted with the <u>LaMarche</u> district court decision where the court held that the exclusions unambiguously excluded construction related losses. Accordingly, it is clear that the <u>LaMarche</u> court was making determinations regarding the exclusions, not deciding the case based on a lack of coverage under the CGL.

The fact that <u>LaMarche</u> held that coverage would be provided but for the pre-1986 exclusion is further evidenced by reviewing the only case cited in this Court's <u>LaMarche</u> decision, the <u>Weedo</u> decision from the Supreme Court of New Jersey. The <u>Weedo</u> court distinguished between what it considered to be uninsured "business risks" and "occurrences" giving rise to insurable liability. The court held that faulty workmanship that must be replaced or repaired was an **excluded** risk, but faulty workmanship that caused consequential damage to other persons or property is a covered "occurrence." <u>Weedo</u>, 405 A.2d 788, 791-92. Immediately after this portion of the <u>Weedo</u> decision, the New Jersey Supreme Court noted:

The standardized provisions in the CGL intended to convey this concept include, *inter alia*, the very **exclusion clauses** at issue herein.

<u>Id.</u> at 792 [emphasis added]. The New Jersey Supreme Court then held that the "insured products" and "work performed" exclusions functioned "to restrict and shape the coverage **otherwise afforded.**" <u>Id.</u> at 790. <u>Weedo</u> finally noted:

Pennsylvania National conceded at oral argument before us, as apparently it did before the Appellate Division, see 155 N.J. Super. At 479, that **but for the exclusions in the policy, coverage would obtain.** Hence we need not address the validity of one of the carrier's initially-offered grounds of non-coverage, namely, that the policy did not extend coverage for the claims made even absent the exclusions.

Id. at 790 n.2. Because LaMarche fully adopted the "logic and reasoning" of Weedo, it is irrefutable that unintended "construction defects" do constitute a covered "occurrence" under Florida law. LaMarche, 390 So. 2d at 327. Cases such as Home Owners Warranty, Lassiter, and Deluxe Systems interpreting LaMarche to the contrary are simply in error. These cases are almost entirely based on over-generalizations which result from plucking limited portions of LaMarche out of context, with no reference to specific policy language in dispute. It is indisputable that LaMarche and Weedo were decided based on the exclusions in the 1973 CGL form. Nothing in the LaMarche decision prohibits an insurer from changing the policy and insuring additional risk. Moreover, while INSURER and its AMICI imagine that LaMarche hinges on "public policy," this phrase, or any species of it, is nowhere to be found in the opinion. The only "policy"

discussed in <u>LaMarche</u> is the insurance policy. INSURER'S tortured view of the law of insurance would have this Court believe that <u>LaMarche</u> forever "froze" the coverage available under future CGLs based on a phantom consideration of "fundamental intent." INSURER and its AMICI are trying to divorce the result in <u>LaMarche</u> from the foundation and rationale upon which the result was derived, the then-existing exclusions. Florida builders did not purchase the CGLs with a "<u>LaMarche</u> endorsement;" they bought CGLs with policy language different from that in <u>LaMarche</u>. Since <u>LaMarche</u>, the policy form has changed, and the result must change along with the amendment to the policy form.

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